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Property Name: Jesse Myers Property Inventory Number:  CARR-1722
Address: 1321 Old New Windsor Road City: New Windsor Zip Code: 21776
County: Carroll USGS Topographic Map: New Windsor
Owner:  Stephen E. and Linda A. Manning Is the property being evaluated a district? _ yes
Tax Parce]l Number: 0011  Tax Map Number: 50 Tax Account ID Number: 11-000940
Project: New Windsor Quarry Expansion Agency:
Site visit by MHT Staff: X no _yes Name: Date:
Is the property located within a historic district? _ yes _ no

If the property is within a district District Inventory Number:

NR-listed district _ yes  Eligible district ____ yes District Name:

Preparer’s Recommendation: ~ Contributing resource__yes _ no  Non-contributing but eligible in another context

If the property is not within a district (or the property is a district)

Preparer’s Recommendation: Eligible X yes no

' Criteria: A B XC D Considerations: A B C D E F G X None

Documentation on the property/district is presented in:

Description of Property and Eligibility Determination: (Use continuation sheet if necessary and attach map and photo)

The Jesse Myers Property is located at 1321 Old New Windsor Road, New Windsor, Carroll County,
Maryland. It is owned by Stephen E. and Linda A. Manning, 1321 Old New Windsor Road, New
Windsor, MD 21776. The property occupies tax parcel Map 50 Parcel 0011. The property consists of 2.67
acres and contains a late nineteenth-century dwelling, barn, chicken coop, shed, privy and a ca. 1900
clock shop.

The Jesse Myers Property was built in ca. 1875. The ell-plan dwelling is two-and-one-half stories tall
and measures four bays wide and two rooms deep. The dwelling has a stone foundation and is constructed
of brick laid in a common bond pattern with a side gable roof that is sheathed in standing seam metal. The
dwelling has three brick interior chimneys located at the peak of each gable end. The dwelling has
original six-over-six wood windows with wood sills, brick lintels and modern wood storm windows.
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Physical Description (continued):

The front elevation is oriented east facing Old New Windsor Road. The first floor has a window-
door-door-window pattern (Photograph 1). The windows are original six-over-six wood windows with
wood sills and brick lintels. The doors are original wood and glass panel doors with a single-light transom
over each. The doors are covered by decorative wood screen doors. The second floor has four evenly
spaced original six-over-six wood windows with wood sills and brick lintels. There is an original one-
story, three-bay porch over the front doors. The porch has a hipped roof that is sheathed in standing seam
metal. Its roof is supported by four square posts that are chamfered in the center section. Located at the
top of the posts are decorative jigsaw brackets. The porch deck is supported by a brick foundation.

The south elevation of the dwelling has six windows and is simple in detail (Photograph 2). The first
and second floors have two original six-over-six wood windows with wood sills and brick lintels. The
third floor has modern four-light wood windows. The majority of the west elevation is obscured by a ca.
1900 addition (Photographs 3 and 4). The only feature that is not blocked by the addition is an original
six-over-six wood window on the second floor of the southern end.

The ca. 1900 addition is two-and-one-half stories tall. It is constructed of brick with a front gable roof
that is sheathed in standing seam metal. The southern elevation of the addition is brick on the first floor
and is clad in clapboard siding on the second floor. The first floor has a wood paneled door that has four
lights. East of the door is a small original four-light wood window. The second floor has an original six-
over-six wood window. The western elevation has an original six-over-six wood window on the first floor
and a small modern four-light wood window in the attic. The north side of the addition has an original
six-over-six wood window on the second floor. The first floor is obscured by a second addition
(Photograph 5). The second addition is one bay wide and one room deep. There is an original six-over-six
wood window on the north side of the second addition. Located on the east side of the second addition is
an original porch that was enclosed ca. 1990. The enclosed porch has clapboard siding with four modern
12-light windows on the north side. The east side of the enclosed porch has two modern 12-light
windows. The enclosed porch is supported by a stone foundation on the western side and a brick column
on the eastern side.

The northern elevation of the dwelling is partially covered on the first floor by the enclosed porch
addition (Photograph 6). The visible section of the first floor has two original six-over-six wood windows.
The second floor also has two original six-over-six wood windows. There are two modern four-light
wood windows in the attic. The basement level is visible on the north elevation. At the eastern end of the
basement level is a modern vertical clapboard door with a six-light window. West of the door is an
original six-over-three wood window. Located under the enclosed porch is an original six-over-six wood
window.

An outbuilding located west of the dwelling is a ca. 1900 building known by the owner as the ““clock
shop” (pers. com., Stephen Manning, July 2011). The shop is two stories tall and measures two bays wide
and one room deep (Photographs 7 and 8). The shop has a stone foundation and the walls are clad in
clapboard siding. It has a gable front roof that is sheathed in standing seam metal. The first floor of the
south elevation of the shop has a solid wood panel door and an original six-over-six wood window. The
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Physical Description (continued):

second floor has an original horizontal wood window that has eight lights. In the gable peak there is an
original four-light wood window. The east elevation of the shop does not have any fenestrations. The west
elevation of the shop has two original six-over-six wood windows. The north elevation of the shop has a
wood and glass panel door and an original six-over-six wood window on the first floor. The second floor
has an original four-light wood window in the gable peak.

Located west of the clock shop are a shed and a privy, both constructed ca. 1870 (Photographs 9 and
10). The shed is one story tall and measures one bay wide and one room deep. The walls are clad in board
and batten and the gable front roof is sheathed in standing seam metal. The south elevation of the shed has
a vertical wood door on the eastern end and a covered up window on the western end. The east elevation
has a boarded-up window in the center. The north elevation is obscured by the privy. The west elevation
of the shed has a vertical wood door on the southern end. The privy has board and batten walls and a shed
roof that is sheathed in standing seam metal. There is a vertical board door and a window without lights
on the east side.

A barn is located west of the shed and privy. The barn stands two stories tall and four bays wide. It
has a stone foundation with walls clad in board and batten, and a front gable roof that is sheathed in
standing seam metal. The east elevation of the barn has a pent roof that is supported by four large wood
brackets (Photograph 11). Located underneath the pent roof are two vertical board doors and two original
four-light windows, which are arranged in a door-window-door-window pattern. The south elevation of
the barn has two wood six-light windows on the first floor and two wood four-light windows on the
second floor (Photograph 12). The north elevation of the barn has four wood four-light windows, with
two on the first floor and two on the second floor (Photograph 13).

The west elevation of the barn is obscured with a shed roof addition (Photograph 14). The south
elevation of the addition has a pair of vertical wood doors near the main section of the building. There is
also a wood four-light window on the west end. The western elevation has two wood windows; one has
four lights and the second has a modern air conditioner. The north side of the addition has a metal exhaust
fan.

Northeast of the barn is a ca. 1870 chicken coop (Photograph 15). It is two bays wide and one room
deep. The walls are clad in board and batten siding and it has a shed roof that is sheathed in corrugated
metal. The south side of the building has two large rectangular windows that are missing their glazing or
other covering. Above each window is a small rectangular vent. The west side of the coop has a small
tractor shed addition. There are no fenestrations on the north side of the building. The east side of the
building has a vertical board door with a wire mesh window.

The Jesse Myers Property retains the majority of the outbuildings including the barn, privy, chicken
coop and shed. The dwelling on the property retains many original features such as original wood
windows, original front doors and the original front porch. The property retains integrity of design,
materials and workmanship.
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History

Land, genealogical, and cartographic records indicate that at least the oldest portion of the brick
dwelling at 1321 Old New Windsor Road was constructed as a retirement home for well-to-do Carroll
County farmer Jesse Myers and his family in the mid-1870s. No structures were denoted in this location
on maps of Carroll County published in 1862 and 1863 (Martenet 1862; Shearer 1863). By a deed dated
October 9, 1875, Samuel and Margaret Hoffman conveyed to Jesse Myers a 2.53-acre lot of land along
the west side of Old New Windsor Road, in consideration of $475 (Carroll County Liber 46:180). Within
the bounds of this lot, a dwelling attributed to “J. Myers” was denoted on a map of Carroll County
published in 1877 (Lake, Griffing and Stevenson 1877). It thus appears that at least the oldest portion of
the brick dwelling on this property was constructed in the months following October 1875.

Jesse Myers was 60 years old in the fall of 1875. He had been born in Frederick County, Maryland on
February 9, 1815, and there he had married Mary Ellen Wolf around 1846 (Biller 2008:n.p.). Between
that year and 1869—as the couple lived and farmed in Frederick County—Mary Ellen gave birth to at
least nine children. Sometime prior to June 22, 1870, the Myers family moved across the county line into
Carroll County, where the household was recorded on that date as comprising 55-year-old farmer Jesse,
44-year-old Mary Ellen, eight Myers children ranging in age from 1 to 20, and a 15-year-old domestic
servant. Jesse owned real estate reportedly worth $19,000, and his personal estate totaled a considerable
$7,800 (United States Bureau of the Census 1850, 1870).

A decade later, after Jesse had retired and moved his wife and unmarried children into the house at
1321 Old New Windsor Road, the Myers household comprised 65-year-old Jesse, his 53-year-old wife,
and five Myers children ranging in age from 11 to 23 (United States Bureau of the Census 1880a). No
agricultural data was available from the 1880 Agricultural Census (United States Bureau of the Census
1880D).

Jesse Myers died at the age of 80 on October 25, 1895, and was buried in the St. Luke’s Lutheran
Church cemetery northwest of New Windsor (Biller 2008:n.p.). In accordance with his will and an order
from an Orphans’ Court, his sons John and Howard served as executors of his estate. On August 29, 1896,
they exposed their father’s brick house on its 2.53-acre lot to public sale, and sold it to Edward S.
Bankard and his wife Anna for $2,200. After another Orphans’ Court approved this sale, a deed of
conveyance was executed the following October 29 (Carroll County Liber 83:375).

Born in Maryland in December 1864, Edward Bankard had married Anna in 1883, and raised with
her eight children, the last of whom was born around the time that 31-year-old Edward and 33-year-old
“Annie” acquired and moved to the Jesse Myers Property. By June 1900, Edward was employed as a
hardware dealer in New Windsor, and the Bankards still had seven of their children living with them
(United States Bureau of the Census 1900). Edward continued in the hardware trade in New Windsor at
least through April 1910, as recorded in a census enumeration conducted in that month. By that time, son
Walter had turned 21, married, and begun serving as a hardware store clerk. He and his wife Hallie were
living with Edward, Annie, and two of the younger Bankard children in the house on the Jesse Myers
Property (United States Bureau of the Census 1910).
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History (continued):

Edward and Annie Bankard continued to own the Jesse Myers Property through 1916, as reflected on
a map of New Windsor (Election District 11) published in that year (Rand McNally & Co. 1916). On
October 31, 1916, however, they conveyed their house and associated 2.53-acre lot to Carroll County
resident John C. Brown and his wife Alverta, in consideration of $4,400 (Carroll County Liber 129:493).
The 1916 map indicated that immediately prior to this conveyance, the Browns had owned and occupied a
73-acre farm one-half mile northwest of the Jesse Myers Property (Rand McNally & Co. 1916). Two
years after acquiring the Bankard residence and lot, the Browns expanded the property by purchasing
from neighboring landowner Nathan H. Baile an adjoining lot of 1.73 acres (Carroll County Liber
129:538). In census records compiled in January 1920, John Brown was identified as a 57-year-old truck
farmer, living along the “New Windsor to Liberty Pike” (Old New Windsor Road) with his 50-year-old
wife Alverta, their 25-year-old unmarried son E. Durral (employed as a clerk in a drugstore), and a 79-
year-old, widowed Irish boarder named John R. Hare, occupied as a watchmaker (United States Bureau of
the Census 1920).

John Brown died sometime between November 9, 1923 (when John Buckey placed a judgment lien
on the Browns’ property) and March 29, 1925, when the widowed Alverta joined Buckey in conveying
the Jesse Myers Property—comprising the original 2.53-acre lot and the additional 1.73 acres—to Calvin
S. Moyer and his wife Anna R. Moyer (Carroll County Liber 145:163). The consideration was “$10 and
other good and valuable considerations.” From that date through at least July 1981, the Jesse Myers
Property would comprise the two aforementioned lots, together totaling 4.26 acres. The Moyers owned
the Jesse Myers Property for three years, but may never have occupied it. In a census enumeration
conducted in 1920, they were recorded as living in Union Bridge, where Calvin was employed as a
general farmer for a cement plant (United States Bureau of the Census 1920). A decade later, the Moyers
were living in Middleburg (west of Union Bridge), and Calvin was still making his living as a general
farmer (United States Bureau of the Census 1930).

By a deed dated August 16, 1928, Calvin and Anna Moyer conveyed the Jesse Myers Property to
John Harry Yingling and his wife Sarah Edna, in consideration of “$10 and other good and valuable
considerations” (Carroll County Liber 151:150). On the New Windsor map published 12 years earlier,
“J.H. Yingling” had been identified as the tenant on a 185-acre farm owned by “R.L. Myers,” roughly
two-thirds of a mile southwest of the Jesse Myers Property (Rand McNally & Co. 1916). John Harry
Yingling had been born in October 1872 to Carroll County residents John Elias Yingling and Sarah
Penelope Fuss. He had married Sarah Edna Koontz in 1900, and to this union were born two sons: Rufus
Clarence (in 1900) and John Fenton (around 1909) (Meier 2002:n.p.; United States Bureau of the Census
1900, 1910). In addition to general farming in Carroll County, J. Harry Yingling served as a pastor for a
local Methodist congregation (Meier 2002:n.p.).

In census records compiled in May 1930—two years after the Yinglings acquired the Jesse Myers
Property—the Yingling household along “the Old Liberty Pike” was recorded as comprising 56-year-old,
Maryland-born general farmer J. Harry Yingling, his 54-year-old wife Sarah, and their two unmarried
sons: 29-year-old R. Clarence, proprietor of a garage; and 21-year-old J. Fenton, a laborer on a general
farm (United States Bureau of the Census 1930).
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History (continued):

John Harry Yingling died in 1947, leaving the Jesse Myers Property and associated lot of 4.26 acres
to his widow (Carroll County Liber 298:361; Meier 2002:n.p.). On December 11, 1958, Sarah Edna
Yingling conveyed a 1.58-acre portion of this lot to Walter and Betty Jane Weller, reducing the Jesse
Myers Property to its current size of 2.67 acres (Carroll County Liber 298:358). Later that day, Sarah
Edna conveyed the 2.67-acre property to her sons John Fenton and Rufus Clarence, as tenants in common,
in consideration of “$10 and other good and valuable considerations” (Carroll County Liber 298:361).
Sarah Edna retained, however, “full power to lease, mortgage, deed, sell, or in any otherwise encumber
the property absolutely” during her natural lifetime.

Rufus Clarence Yingling died intestate on January 14, 1962, “leaving as his only heir at law his
mother, Sara [sic] Edna Yingling.” Nine months later, Sarah Edna died, “leaving as her only heir in law
John Fenton Yingling” (Carroll County Liber 363:168). The following year, by a deed dated August 12,
1963, John Fenton Yingling and his wife Evelyn conveyed the 2.67-acre Jesse Myers Property to widow
Jennie E. Clark, in consideration of “$10 and other good and valuable considerations” (Carroll County
Liber 363:168). Since August 1963, the Jesse Myers Property has been owned as follows:

. April 19, 1966 to August 5, 1970: Jennie E. Clark (Carroll County Liber 404:581)

o August 5, 1970 (for a matter of hours): Mary Elizabeth Gabriel, “unmarried” (Carroll
County Liber 472:678)

o August 5, 1970 to July 31, 1981: Oscar D. Sentz, “widower, of Carroll County” (Carroll
County Liber 472:681)

o July 31, 1981 to the present: Stephen E. Manning and wife Linda A. Manning (Carroll
County Liber 793:564).

National Register Evaluation:

The Jesse Myers Property was evaluated according to criteria set forth in the National Register
Bulletin: “How to Apply the National Register Criteria for Evaluation” (National Park Service 1997). The
property was built as a retirement home for Jesse Myers and was not associated with any significant
trends or events in history and is recommended not eligible under Criterion A for listing in the National
Register of Historic Places. The property is not known to have been associated with any notable
individuals or significant historic events and is recommended not eligible under Criterion B.

The property retains several of the original outbuildings such as barn, privy, chicken coop and shed.
All of the buildings except for the privy and the chicken coop are in good repair. The buildings retain
integrity of design, material and workmanship. The dwelling on the property is a vernacular building that
retains many original elements such as original wood windows, original front doors and the original front
porch. The massing of the dwelling has changed with the ca. 1900 addition; however, it was constructed
in a similar style to the dwelling and does not detract from the integrity of feeling and association of the
dwelling. All of the windows in the dwelling except those in the attic have been restored instead of
replaced by the current owner. The property as a whole is a good example of a late nineteenth-century
homestead in New Windsor. The property retains integrity of design by keeping the dwelling original to
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National Register Evaluation (continued):

its period of construction. It retains its integrity of materials and workmanship by the preservation of
many of the original elements and the restoration of the windows not only in the dwelling but also in the
outbuildings. The Jesse Myers Property is therefore recommended eligible for listing in the National
Register of Historic Places under Criterion C. Eligibility under Criterion D cannot be fully addressed at
this time since the property has not been subject to archaeological testing.

The period of significance for the property extends from ca. 1875, the time of construction of the core
of the dwelling, until 1961, because the property continues to exhibit those characteristics which make it
eligible. The proposed National Register boundary for the Jesse Myers Property is as follows: beginning
at a point on the west side of the shoulder of Old New Windsor Road and extending northeast
approximately 289 feet to a second point along the shoulder of the road. The proposed boundary then runs
northwest approximately 314 feet to a point in the trees. It then turns southwest for approximately 323
feet to a point in the field. The proposed boundary then runs southeast 302 feet, returning to its point of
origin. This boundary encompasses the dwelling, all of the outbuildings and some of the land, which are
the contributing elements of the property. This boundary was prepared in accordance with guidelines set
forth in the National Register Bulletin: “Defining Boundaries for National Register Properties™ (Seifert et
al. 1997).
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Determination of Eligibility Photo Log for

CARR-1722-Jesse Myers Property

All Photos were printed with Epson Ultra Chrome K3 Ink on Epson Photo Pater Glossy 601b.
Digital Photographs on Verbatim, UltraLife Gold Archival Grade CD-R with Super Azo dye

File Name

Description

CARR-1722 2011-07-01_1

View facing northwest, showing the main elevation of the
dwelling.

CARR-1722_2011-07-01 2

View facing northwest, showing the south elevation of the
dwelling.

CARR-1722 2011-07-01_3

View facing northeast, showing the south side of the addition.

CARR-1722 2011-07-01 4

View facing northeast, showing the west side of the addition.

CARR-1722 2011-07-01 5

View facing southeast, showing the second addition and the
enclosed porch.

CARR-1722 2011-07-01_6

View facing southwest, showing the north elevation of the
dwelling. Note the enclosed porch.

CARR-1722 2011-07-01_7

View facing northwest, showing the south elevation of the
clock shop building.

CARR-1722_2011-07-01 8

View facing southeast, showing the rear elevation of the clock
shop building.

CARR-1722 2011-07-01 9

View facing northwest, showing the shed and the privy.

CARR-1722 2011-07-01_10

View facing northeast, showing the southwest corner of the
shed.

CARR-1722 2011-07-01 11

View facing northwest, showing the east elevation of the barn.

CARR-1722 2011-07-01 12

View facing northeast, showing the south elevation of the
barn.

CARR-1722_2011-07-01_13

View facing southwest, showing the north elevation of the
barn.

CARR-1722 2011-07-01_14

View facing northeast, showing the west elevation of the barn.

CARR-1722 2011-07-01 15

View facing northwest, showing the chicken coop.
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